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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal arises from two separate instances, with nearly
identical fact patterns, in which Defendant/Appellant Albert
French (“Mr. French”) was stopped and detained by Clinton Township
police officers for being out walking, allegedly in wviolation of
Executive Order 107 ("EO 107”). However, EO 107 contained
categorical exceptions that allowed people to be outside of their
homes, at least two, arguably three, of which, Mr. French
objectively fit. Residents were allowed to be outside walking,
which it is undisputed is what Mr. French was doing when stopped
by police. It is undisputed that Mr. French was walking alone.
Residents were also allowed to be out for “political reasons.”
Mr. French was carrying a sign and protesting when he was detained
by the police. This was a recognized exception to EO 107 and also
is political speech protected by the First Amendment. The facts
show that Mr. French was not in violation of EO 107 because he
fell within enumerated exceptions. However, he was convicted

anyway of violating it in both the municipal and superior courts.



The constitutionality of EO 107 was originally not at issue
in this case because Mr. French fit the exceptions. Convicting him
even though he fit the exceptions, however, raises a number of
Constitutional issues. First, the Superior Court’s interpretation
of the Disaster Control Act and EO 107 is so broad as to be
unconstitutionally wvague, depriving him of due process under the
Fourteenth amendment. Under the Superior Court’s reasoning, Mr.
French was out walking, but he was not walking in the manner
“contemplated” by EO 107. Similarly, Mr. French was out protesting,
but the Superior Court reasoned that the manner in which Mr. French
was engaged in political activity was not in the spirit of EO 107.
In addition to depriving him of due process under the Fourteenth
Amendment due to vagueness, this interpretation also violates his
First Amendment right to freedom of expression and speech. It is
a particularly egregious infringement Dbecause the speech the
government is intruding upon is political speech, the most highly
protected and wvalued speech. The Court’s interpretation of the
statute also infringed Mr. French’s First Amendment rights because
the factual basis for the conviction is entirely his speech and
expressive conduct that took place after he was detained by police.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review on all constitutional issues and

statutory construction is de novo. Manahawkin Convalescent v.

O'Neill, 217 N.J. 99, 115 (2014) (stating that a “trial court's



interpretation of the law and the legal consequences that flow
from established facts are not entitled to any special deference”)
(internal citations omitted).

The standard of review on the issue of whether Mr. French
violated the statute concerning walking against traffic is clear

error as to the factual findings. State v. Locurto, 157 N.J. 463,

474 (1999). With regard to the Superior Court’s interpretation of

N.J.S.A. 39:4-34 the standard of review 1s de novo.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The April and May incidents were tried without a jury in the
municipal court.! Mr. French was convicted of violating EO 107 on
both days. 1T76:20-77:5; 2T54:10-14. Mr. French was convicted of
a disorderly persons arising from behavior where he allegedly
grabbed his groin area and shook it at the police officers for
three to five seconds. 1T778:11-79:3. Mr. French was convicted of
walking the wrong way with traffic. 2T55:22-25.2

On appeal to the Superior Court, Judge Borkowski wvacated the

conviction for disorderly persons based on Mr. French’s alleged

'State of New Jersey v. French (March 25, 2021). The Transcript
of Record for the April 7, 2020 incident is referred to herein

as 1T. The Transcript of Record for the May 6, 2020 incident is
referred to herein as 2T. Both transcripts are dated March 25,

2021.

2 This summons was not presented by the government on appeal to
the Superior Court and is not in Defendant’s possession. It is

absent from the summons that Defendant possesses DA40-45.
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grabbing of his groin because this is protected expression under
the First Amendment. Da34. Judge Borkowski affirmed the
convictions for allegedly violating EO 107 and walking with
traffic. DAbL-6.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This appeal arises from two separate incidents that occurred
on April 7, 2020 and May 6, 2020 with nearly identical fact
patterns. In both cases, Mr. Albert French was walking along a
highway carrying signs made out of poster board that said
derogatory things about the police. In both instances he was
stopped by local law enforcement. In both instances, the reason
given for stopping him was that he was suspected of being in
violation of Executive Order 107.

The April 7, 2020 Incident

Patrolman William Musacchio was the sole witness for the
state. Mr. French did not testify. Officer Musacchio’s testimony
set forth the following facts.

On April 7, 2020, Defendant Albert French was walking along
Route 22 1in Clinton Township, NJ. 1T19-20. Officer Musacchio
testified that Executive Order 107 (“EO 107”) was in effect and
that his understanding of EO 107 was that “if you did not have a
specific reason for being out then you should have been at home at
your residence quarantining and keeping socially distanced.” Id.

at 14:9-13. Officer Musacchio testified that he saw “out of the
4



corner of [his] eye, a pedestrian walking westbound in the
eastbound lanes” on Route 22. Id. at 17:24-25. Officer Musacchio
testified that he was under instructions that “if they
[pedestrians] weren’t engaged in essential activity that they were
in wviolation of Executive Order 107 and we had designated an
assistant prosecutor at the Hunterdon County Prosecutor’s Office
at the time that we could screen these types of incidences with.”
Id. at 18:10-15. Officer Musacchio testified that Mr. French was
“walking on the highway with a posterboard in his hand” and that
this is “what caught [his] eye because on top of the fact that he
was a pedestrian on the highway it’s during a state of emergency
where the governor has enacted that nonessential activity need to
come to an end.” Id. at 19:25-20:5. Officer Musacchio testified
that he witnessed Mr. French “raise the sign toward the motoring
public.” Id. at 20:8-10. He also testified that he observed Mr.
French “grab his genitalia from outside his clothing” and “shake”
it in an up and downward motion.” Id. at 23:7-10

Officer Musacchio testified that he approached Mr. French,
who was masked, and informed him that he was being detained. Id.
at 28:21-22. Officer Musacchio testified that his probable cause
for stopping Mr. French was threefold: “executive order violation,
disorderly conduct, and then his jaywalking across the highway.”
Officer Musacchio testified that he detained Mr. French because of

the state of emergency” and Mr. French was out. Id. at 56:6-9.



Video of the incident shows that Officer Musacchio stated to
another responding officer “sure it’s freedom of speech but it’s
in violation of the state of emergency.” Id. at 56:23-57:1.

Six summons were issued to Mr. French as a result of the April
7, 2020 incident. Two summons alleged disorderly conduct in
violation of N.J.S.A. 2C:33-2A(2) arising from Mr. French’s
alleged shaking of his groin area toward the police officer. Two
summons alleged disorderly conduct in violation of local ordinance
198-10(c). One summons alleged violation of Executive Order 107.
The final summons alleged failure to cross within a crosswalk in
violation of N.J.S.A. 39:-4-34. The municipal court dismissed the
second disorderly persons charge because he found that it arose
from the same incident as the first charge. Id.at 79:8-11. The
municipal court merged the municipal disorderly conduct charges
and dismissed them because they arose from the same incident as
the state charges. Id.at 79:11-17. The municipal court acquitted
Mr. French of the failure to use a crosswalk charge because the
highway in question does not have a medial barrier and the statute
applies only to highways with medial barriers. Id. at 79:18-80:5.
The municipal court convicted Mr. French of disorderly persons
based upon the shaking of the groin and, separately, violating EO
107. On appeal, the Superior Court held that the alleged shaking
of his groin area toward the police officer was expressive conduct

protected under the First Amendment and dismissed that charge.



DA34. The only conviction that remains from this incident is the
conviction under EO 107.

The May 6, 2020 Incident

Sargent Jeffrey Glennon was the sole witness for the state
concerning the May 6, 2020 incident. Sgt. Glennon testified that
his contact with Mr. French began because Sgt. Glennon was
responding to information that an individual was walking in the
roadway with a sign. 2T-8:23-9:5. Sgt. Glennon testified that he
observed Mr. French walking in the roadway with a sign. Id. at
9:7-12. Sgt. Glennon testified that he got out of his vehicle and
approached Mr. French and that Mr. French began Y“immediately
yelling that he was an essential employee” and pointing to his
shirt, which was a red Rita’s Ice sweatshirt. Id.at 11:23-12:1.
Sgt. Glennon testified that Mr. French said “a few times” that he
was an essential employee. Id. at 12:16-18. Sgt. Glennon testified
that Mr. French told him that “he was protesting and that he has
the right to protest and he’s an essential employee.” Id. at
14:11-12.

Sgt. Glennon testified that he called Rita’s Ice to determine
if Mr. French was working there and that an employee at Rita’s Ice
informed him that Mr. French worked that day and that his shift

ended at 4:00pm. Id. at 27:6-22. Sgt. Glennon testified that he

encountered Mr. French on the highway at 4:21pm. Id. at 29:15-



20. Sgt. Glennon testified that he did not personally know what
time Mr. French actually left Rita’s. Id. at 36:6-16.
Sgt. Glennon testified that his reason for detaining Mr.

A\Y

French was because “[w]e were still in the midst of the pandemic.
The executive order was 1in effect and for public safety, the
governor and the attorney general wanted no people out in public
so we were interested to see what was going on.” Id. at 32:22-
33:3. Sgt. Glennon testified that where he stopped Mr. French was
between Rita’s Ice, where Mr. French worked, and the car he saw
Mr. French enter after Sgt. Glennon detained him. Sgt. Glennon
further testified that he had stopped a car for a traffic stop
between this area. Id. at 33:21-24.

At the municipal trial, Judge Perkins held that it was
appropriate for Sgt. Glennon to stop Mr. French “under the
circumstances.” Id.at 51:19-22. Judge Perkins stated that
“[tlhere is no way that Sergeant Glennon would have any way of
knowing whether he was going to a medical appointment or going to
seek a pizza or whatever else.” Id. at 53:18-20. Ultimately, Judge
Perkins convicted Mr. French of violating EO 107 because Mr. French
was “agitated” after he was detained and that “the sergeant would
have been derelict had he not engaged in the conversation he did

with Mr. French to determine whether Mr. French was, in fact, safe,

for his own personal safety, and to make sure that he was not going



to engage in conduct which would contrary to the public interest
because Route 22 is busy.” Id. at 53:23-54:14.

The municipal court dismissed the summons alleging that Mr.
French was disorderly because he displayed his middle finger
because it 1is protected speech under the First Amendment. Id. at
54:15-20. The court found that alleged disorderly conduct count
merged with the violation of EO 107 because they are a continuing
of one event. Id. at 55. Judge Perkins found that the municipal
ordinance did not apply under the circumstances. Id. Judge Perkins
found that Defendant was guilty of walking the wrong way on the
highway when he was not walking backwards. Id. at 55:22-56:3. On
appeal to the Superior Court Judge Borkowski found Mr. French
guilty of wviolating EO 107 and walking the wrong way on the
highway. DA5-6.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. DEFENDANT’S CONDUCT WAS NOT A VIOLATION OF EXECUTIVE
ORDER 107 (DAl7)

The relevant part of Executive Order 107 stated that all New
Jersey residents should stay at home or their places of residence
and then lists nine categorical exceptions including:

1) obtaining goods or services from essential retail businesses;

2) obtaining takeout food;

3) seeking medical attention, essential social services;



4) visiting family or other people with whom the resident has a
close personal relationship;

5) reporting to or performing their job;

6) walking, running, operating a wheelchair, or engaging in
outdoor activities...while following best social distancing
practices with other individuals;

7) leaving the home for an educational, religious, or political
reasons;

8) leaving because of a reasonable fear for his or her health or
safety; and

9) leaving at the direction of law enforcement or other
government agency.

DA45 (emphasis added).

Both days that Mr. French was stopped he was undeniably
engaged in at least one of these categorical exceptions, and likely
three. First and foremost, it is undisputed that he was walking
alone. Indeed, both officers testified that when they stopped to
detain him for alleged violation of EO 107 he was walking on the
side of the highway alone. Moreover, Officer Glennon testified
that Mr. French was wearing a mask and alone. He was practicing
“pbest social distancing” practices by being utterly alone and
wearing a mask. He could not have been in violation of EO 107
because all the evidence shows that he was engaged in the expressly

permitted activity of walking.
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He was also engaged in political protest, which was permitted
under EO 107 and is also protected under the First Amendment. Both
officers testified that at the time they stopped Mr. French, he
was carrying a poster board. Officer Musacchio testified that he
observed Defendant holding up his poster board to the public.
1T:19-20. This corroborates with Sgt. Glennon’s testimony and
police report that Mr. French was carrying a sign that said “p-h-
u-c-k” on it. 2T14:11-13. Sgt. Glennon’s Investigation Report
indicates that the signs stated “PHUCK #Thin Blue..,” and “Slow
Down Police Ahead.” DA59, DA6l. This was protected political
activity under the First Amendment and an exception recognized by
EO 107 because it was a political reason for him to be out walking
and protesting. Moreover, Mr. French stated to Sgt. Glennon that
he was protesting.

Finally, both officers testified that Mr. French either
explicitly stated that he was engaged in an essential activity or
alluded to the fact that he was involved in the essential activity
commuting from his job. Indeed, Sgt. Glennon confirmed that Mr.
French’S shift at Rita’s Ice ended at 4pm, just 20 minutes before
he encountered him walking on the highway. 2T:36.

All of the evidence shows that Mr. French was engaged in activity
expressly allowed by EO 107: walking, political activity, and
commuting from his job.

II. THE SUPERIOR COURT’'S INTERPRETATION OF EO 107 RENDERS THE
EXECUTIVE ORDER UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE UNDER THE

11




FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT (not raised below; was not at issue
until Superior Court's interpretation of executive order
107)

The Fourteenth Amendment prohibits the government from depriving
a person of life, liberty, or property without due process of law.
A government “violates the Due Process Clause when it takes away
someone's life, liberty, or property under a criminal law so vague
that it fails to give ordinary people fair notice of the conduct
it punishes, or so standardless that it invites arbitrary

enforcement. Johnson v. United States, 576 U.S. 591, 591 (2015).

When it comes to defining a crime, “the void-for-vagueness doctrine
requires that a penal statute define the criminal offense with
sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what
conduct 1is prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage

arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.” Kolender v. Lawson,

461 U.S. 352, 357 (1983). A law that vests too much discretion in
law enforcement or the courts is unconstitutionally wvague. See
Id. at 361 (holding that a statute was “unconstitutionally vague
on its face because it encourages arbitrary enforcement by failing
to describe with sufficient particularity what a suspect must do
in order to satisfy the statute”).

In Johnson, the Supreme Court was called upon to decide
whether the “residual clause” in a sentencing statute was so vague
as to be unconstitutional. The residual clause provided for a

sentencing enhancement if the person had previously been convicted

12



of a crime that “involves conduct that presents a serious potential
risk of physical injury to another.” 1Id. at 594 (citing statute).
The Supreme Court held that the clause was unconstitutionally vague
because “the indeterminacy of the wide-ranging inquiry required by
the residual clause both denies fair notice to defendants and
invites arbitrary enforcement by judges.” Id. at 597. Indeed, New
Jersey recognized the difficulty with selective enforcement and on
March 21, 2020, an administrative order was issued that “clarified”
EO 107, stating that gatherings of 10 people or fewer are
presumptively permitted.?3

Here, the Superior Court held that Mr. French was in violation
of EO 107 because he was “not engaged in a traditional recreational
activity.” DA32. The Court stated that Mr. French’s protesting and
walking, in an area where there is no dispute he was permitted to
walk, was a “high-conflict activity with a much greater chance of
resulting in interpersonal activity than Jjogging around one’s
neighborhood or taking a solitary walk.” Id. Ultimately, the court
held that “while the appellant was outside, he was not engaged in
the sort of outdoor recreational activity contemplated by a broad
interpretation of Executive Order 107 and a consideration of the

purpose behind that order.” Id.

3 A copy of Administrative Order 2020-4 is available at
https://www.nj.gov/governor/news/ao/docs/A0%202020-
4%20Gatherings.pdf (last accessed September 19, 2022).

13



The Court further found that the protesting in which Mr.
French was engaged was not permitted under EO 107 because “[w]hen
read with the purpose of the act in mind, it 1s clear that
individuals were to leave their residences, perform the
educational, religious, or political purpose of their leaving in
as efficient and socially-distanced a manner as possible, and then
go home.” DA33. The judge stated that “voting” would be permitted,
appellant’s “public, high-conflict activity of an indefinite
duration” did not and “could have waited until the emergency
subsided.” DA33-34.

This interpretation of EO 107 renders the EO
unconstitutionally vague. The Court’s conviction of Mr. French is
based on an “underlying purpose” of a statute instead of the
executive order’s plain language. It required Defendant to read
the EO “with the purpose of the act in mind” rather than the plain
language of the EO. Walking and political activity were expressly
permitted by the plain language of the statute. Contriving an
interpretation of the EO and Disaster Control Act to convict Mr.
French for engaging in these activities renders the statute
unconstitutionally vague because there was no way for Mr. French
to have been on notice that was not walking in a manner or
protesting in a manner “contemplated” by the purpose of the EO.
Indeed, this may be the reason the EO exempted political activity

and walking from its scope.
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IIT. AS APPLIED, THE EXECUTIVE ORDER AND DISASTER CONTROL ACT
IMPINGE ON MR. FRENCH’S FIRST AMENDMENT RIGHT TO PROTEST
(not raised below; this was not at issue until Superior
Court's interpretation of executive order 107)

It is indisputable that Mr. French was out walking alone on the
highway carrying a political sign, which is political speech. The
Superior Court engaged in no First Amendment analysis as to whether
the state’s conviction of Mr. French for engaging in political
protest was a violation of his constitutional rights. The Court
presumed that the state had a right to prohibit Mr. French’s
political protest. There 1s no precedent for the state to
completely ban political protest and no precedent was cited by the
Superior Court or the state. Mr. French was engaged in protected
political speech and convicting him for engaging in protected
political speech is a violation of his First Amendment rights.

IV. AS APPLIED, THE EXECUTIVE ORDER AND DISASTER CONTROL ACT

UNCONSTITUTIONALLY INFRINGED ON MR. FRENCH’S RIGHT TO

FREEDOM OF MOVEMENT AND FOURTH AMENDMENT RIGHT BECAUSE
THE STATE LACKED REASONABLE SUSPICION OR PROBABLE CAUSE
TO STOP AND DETAIN MR. FRENCH (not raised below; this was

not at issue until Superior Court's interpretation of
executive order 107)

“The right to travel is a part of the liberty of which the
citizen cannot be deprived without the due process of law.” Kent
v. Dulles, 357 U.S. 116, 125 (1958) (internal citations omitted).
This 1is a fundamental right protected under the Fourteenth
Amendment because it is deeply rooted in our national history and

tradition. Id. at 126 (stating that “[f]reedom of movement across
15



frontiers in either direction, and inside frontiers as well, was
a part of our heritage”). Political protest is also a fundamental
right, protected by the First Amendment.

Mr. French was engaged in travel and political speech when he
was stopped and detained by the police. Indeed, the fact that the
right to travel is a fundamental right may be one of the reasons
that EO 107 specifically allowed walking as a permitted activity.
There is no precedent, and neither the Court nor the government,
cited any precedent, that allows the State to blanket prohibit all
citizens from walking outside of their homes. As applied, this is
an impermissible infringement on Mr. French’s constitutionally
protected right to travel.

The Superior Court held that the initial stop was proper because
Mr. French was out walking. Defendant maintained below, and
maintains now, that stopping him at all was a violation of his
constitutional rights. The Superior Court essentially held that
police had the right to stop anyone they saw outside of their
homes. DA31. This also violated Mr. French’s fundamental right to
travel and the Fourth Amendment. Simply being outside of one’s
home is not reasonable suspicion or probable cause of a crime.

V. THE COURT IMPERMISSIBLY SHIFTED THE BURDEN TO DEFENDANT

TO PROVE HE WAS OUT FOR A REASON PERMITTED UNDER EO 107
(DA 18)

Even if the evidence did not show that Mr. French was engaged

in permissible activity pursuant to EO 107, the state did not show
16



that he was not engaged in permissible activity. The burden was
on the state to prove every element of its charge beyond a
reasonable doubt. This would have required the state to show that
Mr. French was engaged in activity that was not permitted under EO
107. In short, the Officers would have had to ascertain that Mr.
French was not engaged in any of the permitted activities. To
hold otherwise would impermissibly shift the burden of proof to
the Defendant to show that he was engaged in a permissible
activity, and that is exactly what happened here. 1T77:1-5 (Judge
Perkins stating that Mr. French “should not have been there under
the executive order. And there’s no good reason cited for him being
there. That, in and of itself, in the Court’s mind, is enough to
establish a violation of the executive order”). Burden shifting
like this is not permitted in a criminal case because it violates
a defendant’s right to due process requiring him to prove that he
was out of his house for one of the enumerated exceptions.
VI. MR. FRENCH’S SPEECH AFTER BEING STOPPED AND DETAINED BY
THE POLICE IS PROTECTED SPEECH THAT CANNOT BE USED A
BASIS UPON WHICH TO CONVICT HIM (not raised below; this

was not at issue until Superior Court's interpretation of
EO 107 and Disaster Control Act)

The Superior Court relied on Mr. French’s speech and expressive
conduct to convict him of wviolating EO 107 and, in so doing,
trampled his constitutional rights to free speech, freedom of

expression, and right to request an attorney.

17



The Superior Court reasoned that once Mr. French was
approached by the police, he had a duty under the Disaster Control
Act to “cooperate” with the police in their investigation. For the
April 17, 2020 incident, the Court relied upon the following as
evidence of Mr. French’s alleged lack of cooperation:

e Mr. French stated: “I will not be part of this investigation.”

DA31.

e Mr. French did not stand still, instead walking closer to the
officers and then walking away from the officers. DA31.

e Mr. French told the officers to get into their wvehicles if
they wanted to have a private conversation. DA31l.

For the May 6, 2020 incident, the Court relied upon the following
as evidence of Mr. French’s alleged lack of cooperation:

e Mr. French straddled his sign, turned his back to the
officers, and began to sway back and forth.* DA36.

e Mr. French began to yell and make emphatic hand gestures.
DA36.

e Mr. French asked the officers questions and cut them off
before they could fully respond. DA36.

e Mr. French demanded a lawyer. DA36.

e Mr. French stated that he did not want to be part of the
investigation any longer. DA36.

e Mr. French referred to one of the police officers as a tyrant.
DA36.

e Mr. French was “hostile and combative.” DA36.

4 The video shows that Mr. French was presenting his wrists in a
position where the officers could handcuff him.

18



All of the behavior upon which the Court based its convictions
is conduct that Mr. French is allowed to engage in under the
Constitution. His speech toward the officers 1is all protected
speech under the First Amendment and some of the speech, including
stating that he does not want to be part of the investigation and
requesting a lawyer, 1s protected under the Fourth and Fifth
Amendments as well. In short, Mr. French was engaged 1in
constitutionally protected activity and that activity was used a
basis to convict him of violating EO 107 and the Disaster Control
Act. The convictions are wunconstitutional because Mr. French
cannot be guilty of exercising his constitutional rights.

Moreover, to the extent that Mr. French’s conduct is evidence
of a lack of sufficient cooperation under the Disaster Control
Act, then the Disaster Control Act 1is unconstitutionally wvague
under the Fourteenth Amendment because it did not provide Mr.
French with sufficient notice of what would constitute a crime by
being insufficiently cooperative.

VII. THE STATE PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SHOW THAT

DEFENDANT WALKED THE WRONG WAY ON THE HIGHWAY AND THE COURT
ERRED IN ITS INTERPRATION OF THE STATUTE AT ISSUE (DA21)

The Superior Court misunderstood the statute in question?®, and

it was clear error. Specifically, the Court found that ™“[t]he

5> The summons was not presented on appeal in the Superior Court
by either the Defendant or the government. The summons in
Defendant’s possession does not show what statute under which he
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statute in question requires that an individual walk on the extreme
left of the road against traffic” and that Mr. French was “walking
on the extreme right,” which the Court concluded was a violation
of the statute. However, the statute actually reads:
On all highways where there are no sidewalks or paths
provided for pedestrian use, pedestrians shall, when
practicable, walk only on the extreme left side of the
roadway or its shoulder facing approaching traffic.
N.J.S.A. § 39:4-34 (West). This was a clear error in reading the
statute. It is undisputed that Mr. French was walking backwards,
thus facing oncoming traffic. At trial, Sgt. Glennon testified
that “he was going the right way but backwards when he gave me the
finger but then once he went to the jughandle he turned around and
was walking improperly on the roadway.” Transcript 2 at 32:8-12.
Sgt. Glennon testified that “[w]lhen he was walking backwards he’s
facing the proper way, you have to face traffic. But then once he
turned around, he wasn’t facing traffic, he was walking with
traffic.” Id. at 32:14-17. However, it 1is clear even from just
this testimony that at some point Defendant had to turn around
because he had gone around a jug handle and was preparing to cross
the street, so he must have been perpendicular to the traffic to

cross the street properly. Sgt. Glennon did not testify as to what

point Mr. French turned around and there is no video evidence of

was charged. Defendant believes the Court and government were
referring to N.J.S.A. 39:4-34.
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this. There was i1nsufficient evidence to convict Mr. French of

violating this traffic law.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully requested that
the Court enter an order:
1) Vacating the convictions and dismissing the charges against
Mr. French on both charges concerning EO 107;
2) Vacating the conviction and dismissing the charges against
of Mr. French for walking the wrong way in traffic.
Law Offices of Dana Wefer, LLC

Attorney for Defendant, Albert
French

BY: s/Dana Wefer

DANA WEFER, ESQ.

Dated: September 19, 2022
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Hon. Angela F. Borkowski, J.5.C.
STATE OF NEW JERSEY, : SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
Plaintiff. : LAW DIVISION: CRIMINAL PART
: HUNTERDON COUNTY

Municipal Appeal No. 2-A-2021

ALBERT FRENCH, :
Appellant. : ORDER

THIS MATTER having been opened to the Court by way of a Municipal Appeal filed by
Dana Wefer, Esq., on behalf of the Appellant, Albert French, and the State represented by Hunterdon
County Assistant Prosecutor Christina Ludwig, Esq., and the Court having reviewed the briefs and
submissions of the parties; and having reviewed the Municipal Court transcripts; and having heard the
oral arguments of counsel; and for good cause shown;

IT IS ON THIS 15 DAY OF JUNE, 2022;

ORDERED that appellant’s Municipal Appeal is hereby GRANTED IN PART AND
DENIED IN PART;

ORDERED that appellant on de novo review is found guilty beyond a reasonable doubt on
two counts of Violating Executive Order 107 and one count of Walking With Traffic;

ORDERED that appellant on de novo review is acquitted on one count of Disorderly Conduct;
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the appellant is sentenced to the same sentence below, to
wit: a $500 fine on each count of Violating Executive Order 107. Additionally, for the charge based
on the events occurring on May 6, 2020, he is sentenced to a 14-day suspended jail sentence, and one
year of probation. On the charge of Walking With Traffic, appellant is sentenced to a fine of $103.
The appellant is sentenced to $33 court costs on each conviction, and $50 VCCB and $75SNSF on
each of the Executive Order violations.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that all charges merged by the Municipal Court remain
merged, and the appellant is acquitted on all charges on which he was acquitted by the Municipal

Court,

Statement of Reasons attached and incorporated herein. The appellant has 45 days to appeal these

convictions.

i/_,”/ff/g‘/b_}‘“x/ "';;.h- 7'/ u/f&,/‘?/ R f@&.
HONQ,R’ABLE ANGELA F,BORKOWSKI, J.8.C.
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ALBERT FRENCH, :
Appellant. : DECISION

Dana Wefer, Esq., for Albert French, (hereinafter “appellant™).
Christina Ludwig, Esq., Assistant Prosecutor for the State of New Jersey.
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FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On March 25, 2021, the appeliant appeared before the Honorable Eric M. Perkins, JM.C.,
in Municipal Court on charges of Violating Executive Order 107; Disorderly Conduct; and
Walking With Traffic.

The State’s first witness was Patrolman William Masacchio, of the Clinton Township
Police Department. (T1 7:22-24)!. He testified that on April 7, 2020, he was working a day shift
on patrol. (T1 11:17-21)2, He testified that at approximately 4:24 in the afternoon, he had just
completed a business check at the Fountain Motel. (T1 12:10-22). At the time, due to the
COVID-19 pandemic, Governor Murphy had issued an order “which was essentially lockdown
to keep people only confined to certain essential activities whether it be going to work or
emergencies.” (T1 13:15-14:5). Patrolman Masacchio testified that after the business check, he
observed a pedestrian walking westbound in the eastbound lanes and carrying a posterboard. (T1
17:24-18:5). He testified that at the time, his instructions were to contact the prosecutor’s office
for screening if he saw an individual engaged in activity which he believed to be in violation of
the executive order. (T1 10-15). He testified that he took notice of the pedestrian because he was
a pedestrian on a highway, and because of the state of emergency. (T1 20:2-5). At some point,
the individual crossed the highway, and Patrolman Masacchio ultimately contacted the
prosecutor’s office to speak to the prosecutor assigned to assist with screening suspected
violations of the executive order. (T1 20:7-22:7). He then observed the individual furn and face
the highway before grabbing his genitals through his clothing and shaking them up and down
while several vehicles passed by. (T1 23:5-25). After that, the individual made a gesture
extending his middle finger toward passing cars. (T1 24:9-10). Following his conversation with

the prosecutor’s office, Patrolman Masacchio decided that it would be appropriate to take the

L T1 refers to the transcript dated March 25, 2021, and beginning with the testimony of Patrolman William
Masacchio.

T2 refers to the transcript dated March 25, 2021, and beginning with the testimony of Sergeant Jeffrey Glennon,

V1 refers to the motor vehicle recording taken on April 7, 2020.

V2 refers to the motor vehicle recording taken on April 7, 2020, beginning immediately after the conclusion of V1.

V3 refers to the motor vehicle recording taken on April 7, 2020, that records simultaneous to V2 with a wider screen
range.

V4 refers to the motor vehicle recording taken on April 7, 2020, that records simultaneous to V1 and V2 in which
the camera is aimed at the ceiling of the video,

V5 refers to the motor vehicle recording taken on May 6, 2020.
2 Although the transcript refers to “April 7th, 2002,” context makes it clear that the question intended to refer to a date
in 2020.
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individual into custody on charges of violating the executive order as well as multiple disorderly
persons charges. (T1 25:3-24). He testified that before doing so, he requested assistance from
another officer. (T1 26:8-10). He testified that he approached the individual and found him to be
irate and emotional. (T1 26:22-23). He realized that he recognized the individual as the
appellant. (T1 27:22-28:7). He told the appellant that he was going to detain him, and the
appellant responded that he was essential, which Patrolman Masacchio understood to mean that
the appellant was an essential worker; he did not believe that the appellant was operating in a
professional capacity at that time. (T1 29:1-17). Patrolman Masacchio testified that his
supervisor arrived on the scene, and the appellant began to walk away from the two officers. (T1
30:3-16). They decided that since they had identified the appellant, they would not take him into
custody, but instead would send any charges to him by mail. (T1 31:1-22). Patrolman Masacchio
confirmed that there was video footage of this incident, beginning during his conversation with
the prosecutor. (T1 32:18-33:7). At that time, the video was played for the court. (T1 34:1-35:9).
In the video, it was confirmed that the appellant had driven a vehicle, although he was on foot at
the time of the inferaction. (T1 35:14-19). Patrolman Masacchio testified that after the events
captured on video, he did not see the appellant again. (T136:44-17). He further testified that on
the video, the appellant could be heard stating that he was not an essential employee, (T1 36:18-
37:4). He testified that at one point, the appellant crossed the road without walking in a
crosswalk, and that when the appellant had shaken his genitals at the motorists, he had also
shaken it at the officers. (T1 37:24-38:3).

On cross examination, Patrolman Masacchio testified that during his career, he has
interacted with people who were more upset than the appellant, and he clarified that he stopped
the appellant due to his suspected violation of the executive order, his jaywalking, and his
disorderly conduct. (T1 40:11-41:11). He confirmed that there were certain exceptions to the
executive order, including exceptions for going to work, responding to emergencies, and getting
food, as well as engaging in certain political activities. (T1 42:1-5). He testified that the appellant
was holding a sign, and that he did not ask the appellant whether he was pfotesting, or on his way
to or from work, (T1 42:15-20). He stated that he had not personally interacted with the appellant
before, but was aware of him due to his prior interactions with law enforcement. (T1 43:16-21).
He confirmed that some protesters do carry signs, and some do use profane language on those

signs. (T1 44:20-45:1). The appellant’s sign appeared to contain the word “phuck.” (T1 18-21).
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He confirmed that he noticed the sign before seeing the appellant grab his genitals, and stated that
the appellant was walking outside the guardrail on the shoulder of the road before crossing the
road to the center median, (T1 36:10-47:3). He stated that although the word “median” is not used
in the statute under which the appellant was charged, “median” is synonymous with “medial
barrier.” (T1 50:19-51:2). He asserted that although there was not physical medial barrier in this
case, there was a grass median, and the appellant’s conduct was still unlawful. (T1 51:18-52:2).
He testified that the length of time that the appellant grabbed his genitals was approximately three
to five seconds, and stated that he had multiple reasons for initiating an encounter with the
appellant. (T1 55:1-20). He stated that at no time did the appellant tell him that he had a job,
although he admitted that the appellant had asked whether the officer was saying that he was not
an essential worker, (T1 57:21-58:2). He confirmed that there was no doubt in his mind as to what
the appellant was doing when he grabbed his genitals. (T1 60:3). He stated that although there are
several businesses in the area of this incident, he did not know what businesses were open at the
time, due to the lockdown. (T1 60:13-20).

Neither the State nor the defense called any further witnesses, and the defense proceeded
to summation of its case.

In summation, the appellant argued that under the executive order, there were legitimate
reasons why a person might be outside, including being an essential worker, getting food, or
engaging in political activity, and Patrolman Masacchio made no attempt to discern whether the
appellant fell within one of these categories. (T1 63:7-19). He stated that Patrolman Masacchio
believed that the appellant’s signs were offensive, but without the signs being in evidence the court

_could not determine whether they were offensive, and he stated that Patrolman Masacchio had
stopped the appellant because he had grabbed his genitals, but made no attempt to determine
whether that brief motion might have been because the appellant suffered from a rash or other
medical condition. (T1 63:20-64:4). He argued that this created reasonable doubt. (T1 64:5-7). He
further argued that it was not improper for a pedestrian to cross the road to the median, because
the statute in question clearly referred to a “medial barrier,” and could have used the word
“median” if that was what it meant. (T1 64:8-14). He argued that the disorderly conduct charge
was improper, because the statute in question referred to “littering, dumping, destruction or
playground property and so on,” and because the charge arose out of the officer’s original stop for

a violation of the executive order; a stop which was unfounded. (T1 64:15-65:2).
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The State argued that at the time of the charged offenses, thousands of people were dying.
(T1 65:6-22). Law enforcement had been directed to arrest people who were outside of their
residences without a valid reason, and that no reason listed in the order would explain or justify
the appellant’s conduct. (T1 65:24-66:6). The State argued that the evidence presented was
uncountested, and the court cannot speculate as to whether the appellant was employed. (T1 66:6-
8). The State argued that the appellant was eager to talk with the police, but never said that he was
an essential worker. (T1 66:11-22). The State argued that based on that comment, the court cannot
speculate as to why the appellant was on the side of the road. (T1 66:20-67:4). The appellant
ultimately walked away from the officers, indicating that he was walking, and was not there for a
legitimate purpose. (T1 67:11-15). The State argued that the statute is clear as to what constitutes
disorderly conduct, a person is guilty if that person “with purpose to cause public inconvenience,
annoyance or alarm or recklessly creating a risk thereof, he engages in fighting or threatening or
in violent or tumultuous behavior, creates a hazardous or physically dangerous condition by any
act which serves no legitimate purpose of the actor,” (T1 68:5-13). The State reiterated that this
occurred at a time when the executive order was being strictly enforced, and the appellant’s
activities were self-evidently non-essential. (T1 68:14-69:17). The State argued that not only was
there no legitimate purpose for the appellant’s conduct, but his conduct created a risk to others
becausé it meant that the officers, high-risk first responders, had to take the additional risk of
interacting with him. (T1 70:3-18). The State argued that even after being told muitiple times that
he was being detained, the appellant walked away. (T1 70:19-71:6). The State argued that a median
can be considered a barrier, Because it divides two things, and therefore the jaywalking charge was
proper, but acknowledged that the State was more concerned with the other alleged offenses. (T1
72:1-16). There was little information about the sign because the appellant took the sign with him
when he left, and the officer was unable to see it, but that shaking a sign at traffic and grabbing
one’s genitals is nevertheless disorderly conduct. (T1 72:17-25). The State argued that the
appellant had argued that the initial stop for a violation of the executive order was unlawful, and
therefore everything stemming from that stop should be suppressed. (T1 73:6-18). However, the
State argued, the appellant was the one who walked by the officer’s car, and that by the time the
officer approached the appellant, he had received authorization from a prosecutor and had proof

of a violation beyond a reasonable doubt. (T1 73:11-74:6). The initial encounter was not illegal.
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(T1 74:1-6). The State argued that based on the testimony and video evidence, the appellant was
guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. (T1 74:9-14).

The court found that it was beyond dispute that the incident occurred within the jurisdiction
of the court, and it was agreed upon that the appellant was the individual in question. (T1 74:15-
23). The court found that it was uncontroverted that the event occurred on April 7, 2020, during
the early days of the pandemic, when the executive order was in effect. (T'1 75:4-16). The appellant
was observed walking on the shoulder of the road and then crossing over to the median, while
carrying a sign. (T1 75:17-19). He was not in a residential area. (T1 75:20-22). When stopped, he
became combative, and engaged in conduct that the court considered “quite unusual.” (T1 75:25-
76:3). The court found that the officers attempted to deescalate the situation, and therefore did not
take the appellant into custody. (T1 76:11-19). The court found that the State had met its burden
of showing that the appellant violated the executive order — he was on the side of a highway in a
public place carrying a sign, and regardless of whether or not the sign was political, he should not
have been there under the terms of the executive order. (T1 76:20-77:5). The court observed that
historically, during times of epidemic otherwise unconstitutional restrictions on the rights of the
citizenry have been permitted, and therefore under the circumstances the State proved the
appellant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. (T1 77:6-19). The appellant was sentenced to a fine
of $500 and $33 court costs. (T1 78:7-8). On the charge of disorderly conduct, the court found that
the State had met its burden. (T1 78:9-11). The appellant had grabbed his genitals while in view
of the public, which could have shocked a driver and caused an accident. (T1 78:11-19). The court
concluded that there had been no evidence introduced suggesting that the appellant might have
grabbed his genitals due to a physiological condition. (T1 78:20-79:1). The appellant was
sentenced to a $250 fine, $33 court costs, $50 VCCO, and $75 SNFA. (T1 79:1-3). The court found
that the two complaints of disorderly conduct alleged by the State were part of one incident, and
the counts were merged. (T1 79:3-10). The State had additionally alleged two municipal
Disorderly Persons charges, which were likewise merged and dismissed. (T1 79:11-17). Regarding
the remaining charge, the court accepted the appellant’s argument that when there is no barrier,
pedestrians should be allowed to cross a median. (T1 79:24-80:2). On that charge, the appellant
was found not guilty. (T1 80:2-5).

In the afternoon, the court addressed the remaining charges against the appellant which had

not been resolved by the morning’s trial. The State’s first witness was Sergeant Jeffrey Glennon
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of the Clinton Police Department. (12 5:6-12). He testified that on May 6, 2020, he received a
report of an individual walking in the roadway. (T2 8:6-8). He responded, and observed an
individual walking and holding a sign. (T2 8:19-20; 9:7-12). Sergeant Glennon testified that he
was familiar with the individual, who he identified as the appellant, from prior police interactions.
(T2 11:2-18). He attempted to communicate with the appellant, who “immediately” began yelling
that he was an essential worker and pointing at his sweatshirt, which had been issued by Rita’s.
(T2 11:19-12:1). At that time, Sergeant Glennon activated his body microphone. (T2 12:5-6). He
stated that the appellant continued to indicate that he was an essential employee, and pointed to
the Rita’s Ice logo on his sweatshirt. (T2 12:15-25). Sergeant Glennon asked the appellant what
was going on, and festified  that the appellant continued to yell. (T2 13:4-7). He testified that at
that time, the appellant was holding a sign warning people to slow down due to police activity
ahead, and containing a misspelling of a profanity. (T2 13:21-24). He stated that the appellant
refused to stop his activity, and became agitated. (T2 14:2-6). The appellant stated that he had a
right to protest, and was an essential employee. (T2 14:11-12). The appellant told Sergeant
Glennon that he did not want to be a part of the sergeant’s investigation anymore, and demanded
that he be freed from detention. (T2 14:12-15). Sergeant Glennon stated that during this encounter,
two additional officers, Lieutenant Thomas DeRosa and Patrolman Carr, arrived on the scene. (T2
14:18-19). At that point, a video of the encounter from Sergeant Glennon’s dashboard camera was
played. (T2 15:22). After the video was played, Sergeant Glennon testified that at the time of the
May 6, 2020, encounter he was aware that the appellant had previously been charged with violating
an executive order, and was aware that after a previous incident between the appellant and the
police, the appellant had requested an ambulance. (T2 16:4-17:8). He testified that he was aware
from radio communication that after the incident, the appellant went to a diner and requested an
ambulance for anxiety, among other reasons. (T2 17:19-25). After observing the appellant’s
“erratic” behavior, Sergeant Glennon became concerned for the appellant’s mental health. (T2
22:6-16). He spoke with Lieutenant DeRosa about how to address the situation, and they attempted
to contact the Hunterdon County Prosecutor’s Office. (T2 23:6-24:7). Licutenant DeRosa asked
the appellant if he was working, and the appellant confirmed that he was. (T2 24:8-13). Lieutenant
DeRosa told the applicant that he could go, and the appellant walked away backwards while raising
his middle finger toward the officers. (12 24:17). Sergeant Glennon stated that after the appellant

began leaving, he remained at the scene typing notes, and eventually the appellant left the scene,
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(T2 25:21-26:21). At the suggestion of the Prosecutor’s Office, Sergeant Glennon contacted Rita’s
Ice, and confirmed that the appellant had worked at Rita’s Ice that day and had left at
approximately 4:00, (T2 27:6-22). Rita’s Ice is located approximately a mile to three quarters of a
mile from the location where the officers encountered the appellant. (T2 28:1-2). Sergeant Glennon
observed the appellant at approximately 4:21 p.m. after being contacted by Lieutenant DeRosa.
(T2 29:15-21). He stated that the appellant had been the target of an earlier stop approximately a
quarter mile or less up the road, and therefore he could confirm that at the time of that stop, the
appellant was not at work. (T2 30:15-31:8). Sergeant Glennon further testified that after making a
rude finger gesture, the appellant had turned around and began walking in the same direction as
traffic, despite the law requiring that people walk facing traffic. (T2 32:6-17). Finally, he stated
that the officers had briefly detained the appellant on the side of the road because due to the
pandemic, there was a restriction on people out in public, and so they needed to determine what
was happening with the appellant, (T2 32:18-33:3). On cross examination, he confirmed that the
earlier stop had occurred between the locations of Rita’s Ice and of the second encounter. (T2
33:14-24). He stated that he saw the appellant walking, and admitted that he did not know the
purpose of the appellant’s sign, and could not recall whether the appellant had ever raised the sign
above his head. (T2 34:3-36:7). He confirmed that he was told that the appellant’s shift had ended
at 4:00, but did not himself see the appellant leave work, and did not see anybody get in or out of
the appellant’s car that day, until the appellant got into the car. (T2 36:8-24). He stated that he had
received training in dealing with mental health issues, and was concerned that the appellant might
present a danger to the public, but did not want to further escalate the situation by “getting in a
fight” on the roadside. (T2 37:4-18). He stated that after observing the appellant, he did not see a
weapon on him, although he did not perform a pat down. (12 37:22-25). He confirmed that he had
been to Rita’s Ice before, but did not know whether employees were typically attired like the
appellant, or whether employees typically wore clothing with the name “Rita’s” on it. (T2 38:11).
He testified that the appellant was alone, and walking along the shoulder of tﬁe road before
crossing the road. (T2 39:10-22). After walking backward and extending his middle finger, the
appellant turned around, crossed the road, and went to the parking lot, where he got into a vehicle.

(T2 40:2-22). He sat in the parking lot, and eventually drove away. (T2 41:2-7).
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In response to the court’s query, the officer testified that he was unable to recall whether
any of the businesses in the area where the appellant parked his car were open, or recall precisely
what the businesses were. (T2 41:11-24).

On redirect, the witness testified that he had only seen the appellant approach his vehicle,
the appellant was not holding anything other than the sign, and the appellant had told him that he
had just left work. (T2 41:25-42:16). The

In summation, the appellant argued that the May 6, 2020, incident was similar to the April
incident addressed in the morning, with a few differences. (T2 44:1-2). He argued that the
executive order allowed for people to walk outside while maintaining social distance, and essential
employees were allowed to go to work. (T2 44:2-7). The appellant argued that based on Sergeant
Glennon’s report, he had been at work that day. (T2 44:7-9). He argued that he may have been
delayed in leaving work for a legitimate reason, and that he may have parked his car in that lot in
order to take a package to UPS. (T2 44:12-18). He argued that he had recently interacted with
police, who had pointed in the direction that he then continued to walk; he was not walking for
miles backwards and in the wrong direction on the highway. (T2 44:19-45:2). He argued that based
on the facts, there was too much ambiguity to determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the
appellant had violated the executive order. (12 45:3-10).

In response, the State argued that the court cannot speculate, but must focus on the
uncontroverted evidence. (T2 45:13-21). The State argued that the court could take judicial notice
of the fact that the appellant had been charged after engaging in similar activity approximately a
month previously, which should have put him on notice that there was no legitimate purpose for

his activities. (T2 46:4-11). The State argued that under the circumstances, considering the severity
| of the virus in early May, even if the sign had been political, the “political purpose” exception was
meant to refer to something like voting, not carrying a sign on the highway, and the exception for
essential employees was only for them to go to and from work. (T2 46:12-24). The State argued
that it was not credible to believe that the appellant got in his vehicle, drove to a parking lot, and
then walked to work, instead, it was more likely that he saw police activity in the area, parked his
car, and began carrying his sign. (12 47:8-15). The State urged the court to consider the competing
interests, and argued that even though the executive order infringed on constitutional rights, there
was an interest in protecting public health, and courts have historically upheld this type of
restriction, (T2 47:19-48:1). The State argued that it was clear what happened — the appellant was
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driving home from work, but decided instead to stop and protest in a disorderly manner. (T2 48:11-
21). The State argued that there was no legitimate purpose for the appellant to park his vehicle, get
out, cross the street, walk in the street, make an obscene finger gesture, scream at the officers, and
behave in an irrational and irate manner. (T2 49:6-15). The State argued that it had proven its case
beyond a reasonable doubt, and that the appellant’s actions in this case were particularly
concerning — they occurred on a busy highway, and the sign stated “phuck;” this could have
distracted motorists and led to an accident. (T2 49:16-50:3). The State argued that the appellant’s
actions put the officers at risk by forcing them to interact with him. (T2 50:4-12). The State argued
that there is a reason why people are supposed to walk in the opposite direction of traffic, and
when the appellant turned around, he committed a traffic violation. (T2 50:13-51:4).

The court found that it was beyond dispute that the incident occurred in Clinton Township
on May 6, 2020, and that the person involved in the dispute was the appellant. The court found
that the May 6 incident occurred less than a month after the previous offense, while the executive
order was still in effect. (T2 51:6-52:1). There were exceptions to the executive order for
performing essential work or visiting an essential business, getting food and drink, seeking medical
assistance, visiting family or other appropriate individuals, or engaging in outdoor recreation while
appropriately socially distanced. (12 52:4-9). The court found that when Sergeant Glennon
approached him, the appellant became angry and aggressive, and was non-responsive when asked
reasonable questions about his purpose in being outside. (T2 52:10-18). The court found that law
enforcement’s responsibility was enhanced by the pandemic, and Sergeant Glennon and the
supporting officers exercised restraint and did not allow the situation to escalate and become
dangerous. (T2 52:19-53:3). The court found that in this case, the appellant had argued that he was
returning to work, and was walking along the side of the road back to his car. (T2 53:4-11). The
State had argued that the court should not suppose such things, and under the circumstances the
court did not do so. (T2 53:11-13). The court found that the executive order allowed people to go
to and from work, or go to commercial establishments, but the appellant did not make a response.
(T2 53:14-17). The court found that Sergeant Glennon would have had no way of knowing whether
the appellant was going to seek medical treatment or food, instead, he was walking along the road
in a way that violated the law. (T2 53:18-22). The appellant was agitated, and could have been
about to run out into traffic. (T2 53:23-25). The court found that it would have been irresponsible

of the officer not to have approached the appellant to determine if he was a danger to himself or
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others. (T2 54:2-9). Therefore, the court found that the State had met its burden of proving the
appellant guilty of violating the executive order, and the appellant was found guilty. (T2 54:10-
14). Regarding the appellant’s obscene finger gesture, the court found that given free speech
concerns, the behavior did not rise to the level of an offense, and the appellant was found not
guilty. (T2 15-20). Regarding the second count, the appellant was found guilty, as the court found
that it was part of the same event as the third count. (T2 55:1-6). The court dismissed the remaining
disorderly conduct charge, after finding that the municipal ordinance did not apply under the
circumstances given the appellant’s criminal conduct. (T2 55:7-13). Regarding the fraffic
violation, the court found that although at one point the appellant was walking backwards, he
clearly should have been on the other side of the roadway, and when he turned around, he was in
violation of the relevant statute. (T2 55:22-25). The appellant was convicted, and sentenced to a
$37 fine and $33 in court costs. Finally, the court reserved sentencing on the remaining charge in
order to allow for a more thorough review of the appellant’s background. (T2 56:4-15). On April
28, 2021 the municipal judge imposed sentence. The appellant was sentenced on the Violation of
Executive Order 107 to a $500 fine, $33 court costs and a 14 day suspended sentence and one year
probation. The judge also clarified that the fine for Walking with Traffic should have been $103,
not $37. The appellant has appealed his convictions.

APPELLANT’S ARGUMENT

I.  The Appellant Argues that his Conduct was Not a Violation of Executive
Order 107.

The appellant argues that under Executive Order 107, all New Jersey residents were
required to remain in their homes or places of residence, with nine exceptions. He argues that these
exceptions were to (1) obtain goods or services from essential retail businesses, (2) obtain takeout
food, (3) seek medical attention or essential social services, (4) visit family or other people with
whom the resident had a close personal relationship, (5) report to or perform a job, (6) walk, run,
operate a wheelchair, or engage in other outdoor activities while following social distancing
practices, (7) engage in an educational, religious, or political purpose, (8) leave the residence due
to a reasonable fear for health or safety, and (9) leave the residence at the direction of law

enforcement or another government agency.
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The appellant argues that on both of the days in question, he was engaged in at least one
and likely three of these exceptions. He argues that he was walking alone, and that both of the
officers who stopped him testified that at the time they did so, he was walking on the side of the
highway, which is indisputably legal. He argues that there is no question that under the executive
order, he was allowed to be outside walking, and that one of the officers testified that he was alone
and wearing a mask, demonstrating that he was practicing best social distancing practices.
Therefore, he was not violating the executive order, because he was engaged in an expressly
permitted activity.

The appellant argues that both officers testified that when they stopped him, he was
carrying a sign, and one of the officers testified that he saw the letters “p-h-u-c-k” on the sign. He
argues that this corroborates the other officer’s testimony that he was carrying signs reading “-p-
h-u-c-k #Thin Blue,” and “Slow Down Police Ahead.” He argues that this is both protected
political activity under the First Amendment, and an activity protected under Executive Order 107,
as he was engaged in a political protest. In support of this argument, he asserts that he told one of
the officers at the time that he was protesting.

The appellant argues that according to the testimony of both officers, he either explicitly
stated to them that he was engaged in an essential activity, or implied that he was commuting from
his job at the time. He argues that one of the officers confirmed that he had left Rita’s Ice 20
minutes before their encounter. The appellant argues that all of the evidence in this case shows
that he was engaged in walking, political activity, and commuting from his job at the time he was

stopped by the police, all of which are expressly allowed under Executive Order 107.

II. The Appellant Argues that the Court Impermissibly Shifted the Burden of
Proof to the Appellant to Demonstrate that he was Engaged in Activity

Permitted Under the Executive Order.

The appellant argues that even if the evidence did not show that he was engaged in
permissible activity, the State did not demonstrate that he was not engaging in permissible activity.
He argues that the State bears the burden of proving all elements of the charged offense beyond a
reasonable doubt, and therefore it was the State’s responsibility to prove that he was engaged in

activity not allowed under the Executive Order. He argues that holding otherwise would
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impermissibly shift the burden of proof to the appellant to show that he was engaged in permitted
activity, and he argues that the municipal court engaged in such burden shifting. In support of this
argument, he cites to Judge Perkins’ comments that he “should not have been there under the
Executive Order. And there’s no good reason cited for him being there. That, in and of itself, in
the Court’s mind, is enough to establish a violation of the Executive Order.” He argues that this
burden shifting violated his right to due process by requiring him to prove that he was out of the

house for a permissible activity.

III. The Appellant Argues that the State did Not Provide Sufficient Evidence to

Prove a Violation of Executive Order 107.

The appellant argues that the State did not prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt. He
argues that both officers testified that he told them he was an essential employee, and that there is
video evidence of him making this statement. He argues that both officers further testified that he
was holding signs as a form of speech, and that this is also confirmed by video evidence. .

He argues that the testimony of the officers alone was sufficient to create reasonable doubt
so great that no reasonable finder of fact could have found him guilty. He argues that most
importantly, he was walking while engaged in social distancing, which is expressly permitted

under Executive Order 107.

1IV. The Appellant Argues that Touching his Grein Area is Not Disorderly

Conduct as a Matter of Law.

The appellant argues that he was convicted of Disorderly Conduct for allegedly touching
and shaking his groin area. He argues that N.J.S.A. 2C:33-2A(2) states in relevant part that “a
persoh is guilty of a petty disorderly persons offense, if with purpose to cause public
inconvenience, annoyance or alarm, or recklessly creating a risk thereof he [ ... creates] a hazardous

or physically dangerous condition by any act which serves no legitimate purpose of the actor.”

The appellant argues that the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that
he caused a “hazardous or physically dangerous condition” in order to “cause public
inconvenience, annoyance or alarm, or recklessly creating a risk thereof,” while having no

legitimate purpose for his conduct. He argues that the State did not provide sufficient evidence to
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prove mens res, to prove that he created a hazardous or physically dangerous condition, or to prove
that his actions did not have a legitimate purpose. He argues that the State proved none of the
required elements of the offense, and certainly did not prove them beyond a reasonable doubt as

required by law.

The appellant argues that the State made no effort to prove his purpose or his mens rea,
and that Judge Perkins did not make any factual findings of same. He argues that no facts were
introduced into evidence showing his mens rea when touching his own groin, and the State
provided insufficient evidence to prove that he did so to create public annoyance, alarm, or the risk
thereof. Rather, he argues, the evidence shows that he touched his groin for between three and five
seconds, and did not repeat the conduct. He further argues that the act of touching his own groin
over his clothes is insufficient to show that he created a hazardous or physically dangerous
situation. He argues that the record does not show how the officer concluded that he was touching

his genitals, rather than touching his clothing, that this action was not captured on video, and no
other evidence was presented. He argues that there is no evidence that anybody else witnessed this
alleged conduct, and no evidence that the alleged conduct created a hazard or a dangerous
condition, He argues that the alleged conduct falls into the category of “unexceptional” behavior

that is not covered by the statute. In support of his argument, he cites State v, Stampone, in which

a defendant was charged with disorderly conduct after engaging in a verbal altercation with a
police officer and then slamming a car door, nearly hitting the officer’s legs. He argues that in that
case, the court stated that

“the actions of the defendant and his testy exchange with [the
officer] had no capacity to cause public inconvenience, public
annoyance ot public alarm. There was no indication that passers-by
were noticing any of this or congregating or, indeed, that such
persons were even present. Nor was there anything inherent in
defendant’s conduct as to make it likely that his colloquy with [the
officer] would cause public inconvenience, annoyance or alarm.
And, of course, there was really no evidence that defendant acted
with a purpose to cause public reactions.”

341 N.J. Super. 247, 255 (App. Div. 2001).
The appellant argues that the same lack of evidence is present in this case. He argues that
there is no evidence that anybody saw him commit the alleged conduct, and there is no evidence

of a hazardous or physically dangerous condition.
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The appellant argues that the State failed to show that his actions had no legitimate purpose.

He argues that in State v. Sabatino, the appellate division considered the Model Penal Code in

order to determine what constitutes a “legitimate purpose.” 2012 WL 5039974 at *4 (App. Div.
Oct. 29, 2012). He argues that according to the commentary on the MPC, the phrase “no legitimate
purpose” is “intended to exclude activities that serve purposes other than making dangerous
mischief.” Ibid. Therefore, he argues that unlawful activity that creates a dangerous physical
condition or hazard would not constitute disorderly conduct, even if it were distasteful or unlawful,
if it served a legitimate purpose of the actor. He further argues that in Sabatino, the court found
that in drafting the relevant statute, the New Jersey Criminal Law Revision Commission was clear
that acts could be “both unlawful and legitimate,” and that “not all discomforting activities are

criminal.” Final Report of the New Jersey Criminal [aw Revision Commission, commentary to
2C:33-2 at 295 (as quoted in Sabatino, 2012 WL at *4).

The appellant argues that in this case, he could have touched his groin due to an itch, or as
a communicative gesture intended to convey displeasure. He argues that even if the court finds his
actions distasteful, either of these reasons would have been legitimate. He argues that the State
bore the burden of proving that there was no legitimate purpose for his conduct, and it was unable

to do so.

The appellant argues that there is insufficient evidence to support a conviction in this case,
because the State has not demonstrated every element of Disorderly Conduct, and therefore his

conviction should be vacated with prejudice.

V. The Appellant Argues that the State Presented Insufficient Evidence to
Demonstrate that he Walked the Wrong Way on the Highway.

The appellant argues that there is video of his interaction with Sergeant Glennon, and that
in that footage, he is clearly walking backwards and facing traffic throughout the interaction. He
argues that at trial, Sergeant Glennon testified that the appellant was walking backwards when he
made a rude hand gesture, but that once he reached the jug handle, he turned around and began
walking improperly. (2T 32:8-12). He argues that Sergeant Glennon testified that when he was
walking backwards, he was facing traffic and walking in the proper direction, but that when he
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turned around, he was walking with traffic rather than facing it. (2T 32:14-17). He argues that the
video does not show him walking in the wrong direction, and that based on the video, it is clear
that Sergeant Glennon’s view would have been obstructed at the point in question. He argues that
the video shows him continuing to walk backward, and that there is no video evidence that he
turned around. Therefore, he argues, the State did not provide sufficient evidence to prove that he

walked the wrong way in traffic.

STATE’S RESPONSE

The State argues that on appeal, the governing standard is de novo review, and the court is
required to examine the record, make its own findings of fact and conclusions of law, and
independently determine the guilt or innocence of the appellant. Rule 3:23-8(a); State v. States, 44
N.J. 285, 293 (1965). However, while the court must make independent findings of fact, it must
do so based on the evidentiary record from the municipal proceeding. State v. Loce, 267 N.J.
Super. 102, 104 (Law Div. 1991). Furthermore, the court is to “defer to trial courts’ credibility
findings that are often influenced by matters such as observations of the character and demeanor
of witnesses and common human experience that are not transmitted by the record.” State v.
Locurto, 157 N.J. 463, 474 (1999). Consequently, the court must “determine the case completely
anew on the record made in the municipal court, giving due, although not necessarily controlling,
regard to the opportunity of the magistrate to judge the credibility of the witnesses.” State v.
Johnson, 42 N.J. 146, 161 (1964). The State bears the burden of proving the appellant’s guilt
beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Grant, 196 N.J. Super, 470, 477 (App. Div. 1984).

L The State Argues that the Municipal Court did Not Err in Determining that

the State Proved its Case Beyond a Reasonable Doubt, nor did the Municipal

Court Erroneously Plac